
Milltown Superfund Site Update – June 13, 2008 
 
In January, 1908 the Milltown Reservoir was filled for the first time.  Plant Superintendent George 
Slack was quoted in the Daily Missoulian: 
 
“…when the last piece of timber is added to the dam it will be in such condition that the highest 
waters ever known in this vicinity will not affect it in the least. No expense was spared in making 
the dam one of strongest of its kind…”  
 

 
 
In May 1908 it started to rain, and it kept raining for 33 days on end.  By June 7, 1908, the Clark 
Fork River was flowing at an estimated 48,000 cubic feet per second, indeed the highest waters 
ever known in this vicinity.  For comparison, today’s flow in the Clark Fork River downstream of 
the former Milltown Dam is 10,600 cubic feet per second.  
 



 
 

The photo above shows the Milltown Dam during the 1908 flood.  Water inundated the former 
powerhouse to a depth of about 6 feet. Despite the incredible force of the floodwaters, officials 
were optimistic about the condition of the dam.  “Firm as a Mountain is the Dam”, proclaimed the 
Missoulian headline.  Charles Marsh, Missoula City Alderman, visited the dam and said, “There is 
no more danger of the power dam going out than there is of the mountains washing down the 
river…the dam is as firm and solid as can be.”  
 

 



 
 
But when the floodwaters receded, William Andrews Clark’s dam was in serious disrepair.  The 
left side and entire toe of the spillway had been washed away.  The reservoir had filled with toxic 
sediments from the mines and smelters 100 miles upstream, but that would not become a 
concern until 73 years later when arsenic was found in local drinking water supplies.  In 1908, the 
immediate problem was rebuilding the dam, completed just five months earlier.  
 



 
 

The photo above, courtesy of the National Archives, shows the Milltown dam under 
reconstruction in 1909.  Note the construction methods of the time, using ten inch timbers crafted 
into cribs filled with rock.  The spillway was completely reconstructed in 1909, shored up over the 
years and covered with concrete following flood and ice damage in 1986.   
 

 
 
The photo above was taken on May 28, 2008 by Gary and Judy Matson of the Friends of Two 
Rivers, a local conservation organization instrumental in the decision to remove the Milltown 



Dam.  The rivers were flowing high, but nowhere near the immense flows of the 1908 flood.  
Water in the Blackfoot River, flowing in from the left in this photo, appears more turbid.  The Clark 
Fork River is flowing in the engineered bypass channel from the right, well contained in within the 
flood berms designed to withstand the 100 year flood and isolated from the most heavily 
contaminated sediments in the Clark Fork arm of the reservoir.   
 
 

 
 
It is hard to imagine, but until late March of this year, all of the flow of both the Blackfoot and 
Clark Fork Rivers was passed through this narrow, 54 foot wide structure known as the radial 
gate, which sits just adjacent to the 210 foot long spillway.  Since the dam breach on March 28, 
the radial gate sits high and dry. 
 



 
 
Today, June 13, excavators  from Envirocon are hard at work removing the radial gate, now 
exposed in the upper left hand portion of this photo,  and the large concrete divider block, located 
just above the radial gate.  As the excavator dug down through the concrete shell of the divider 
block, it encountered the original ten inch timber cribs, filled with rock.  This uncontaminated 
material is being removed and disposed of on the south side of the former reservoir. The divider 
block was a massive structure, about 26 feet wide, separating the powerhouse from the radial 
gate and spillway.  In the most recent dam safety inspection, performed for the Federal 
Regulatory Energy Commission by Montana Power Company in 2001, the 26 foot wide divider 
block was the only portion of the 660 foot long dam that met all contemporary dam safety 
standards.  All other portions of the dam had sub-par safety factors for such threats as floods, 
earthquakes, or ice jams.  In the center of this photo an excavator with a hydraulic hammer is 
chipping away at the concrete in the spillway, while a worker sprays water from a hose to keep 
the dust down.  It only took a few days to remove the massive concrete headwall from the 
powerhouse earlier this year. The concrete poured in the spillway in the 1980’s is heavily 
reinforced with rebar, and the powerhouse headwall was not. The demolition of the spillway will 
continue for about the next five months.  As the concrete is removed, the original timber cribs will 
be exposed.  The timbers will be removed to the south bank, and some will be salvaged.  Most of 
the rock fill will be allowed to erode into the scour hole below the dam, but some of this may also 
be savaged for future use in construction of park facilities at the site. 
 



 
 
 
This photo shows the remediation project area on June 13, from the bluff overlook.  One train, 45 
cars each day, hauls contaminated sediment to the waste repository at the Anaconda Smelter 
Superfund Site.  Hauling began last fall, and the total amount of sediment removed will surpass 
one million tons any day now.  Sediment removal will continue for up to another year and a half.   
 
Water quality monitoring for the project shows increased levels of sediment downstream of the 
dam, most of which comes from upstream on the two rivers or from the Blackfoot River arm of the 
reservoir.  Water quality remains within the standards set for the project.  Arsenic and copper 
levels are now comparable upstream and downstream of the dam on the Clark Fork.  Dissolved 
Arsenic and total suspended solids levels in the river exceeded the standards for one to two days 
after the dam breach in March.  Fisheries studies indicate no increased mortality of fish 
downstream of the dam, and radio tagged fish have been tracked swimming upstream for the first 
time in one hundred years.  Water quality in local wells has not deteriorated, and initial results 
from monitoring wells near the reservoir indicate reduced arsenic concentrations.  Water levels in 
the surrounding aquifer did not drop significantly as predicted following the dam breach in March.  
Still, EPA has replaced more than 70 wells in the area for local residents.  Work continues on 
replacing the highway 200 and county pedestrian bridges, on schedule for completion this fall.   
 



 
 

In late May, the Blackfoot River flowed at about 10,000 cubic feet per second, higher than at any 
time since 1997.  With the Milltown and Bonner Dams removed, water levels behind the Stimson 
mill have dropped and velocities have increased.  Combined with the constriction created by the 
Stimson cooling ponds, this erosive force has undercut and eroded the bank on the north side the 
river, directly adjacent to the cooling pond. 
 

 
 
The photo at the left shows this reach of the river in the late 1800’s, after the Bonner Dam was 
constructed.  The photo at the right shows the dam just prior to its removal in 2005.  The cooling 
pond and associated fill material had filled in about 40% of the river’s available channel. This was 
constructed by the Anaconda Mineral Company in the mid-1900’s.  The bank that eroded this 
year is visible across from the cooling pond, just downstream of a rock spur in the river.  The 
large ponderosa pines at the top of the bank are still there, but the bank has eroded out below 
them.  EPA has protected the cooling pond from erosion with riprap armoring, to prevent erosion 
of sediments in the ponds into the river.  These sediments contain a number of contaminants, 



including detectable PCB’s and hydrocarbons. The PCB’s and other contaminants have not been 
found to pollute local drinking water supplies, but some are seeping into the groundwater and the 
river and should be cleaned up. The Montana DEQ is heading up investigations of options for 
cleaning up the contamination.   
 

 
 

More changes are occurring in the Blackfoot River just upstream of the former Bonner Dam, and 
near the Weigh Station River Access site.  The photo at the left was taken in June 2007, showing 
an island covered in willows.  The photo at the right was taken today.  As the river bed has 
dropped in this area following dam removal, most of the island has eroded, the vegetation is 
gone, and the river has found a new channel in the left hand side of the photo, or right bank of the 
river as it flows downstream.   
 
As the river drops this summer, thousands of logs and other debris will be exposed in the bed and 
banks of the river.  The State Natural Resource Damage program plans to remove logs this 
summer for use in construction of the restored Clark Fork River.  Some logs may be salvaged for 
construction of park facilities at the site.  Plans will be developed to clean up debris deposited in 
the river by the mill and local residents over the past one hundred years.  Restoration of the two 
rivers is just beginning, and will take several years to complete.  The State Natural Resource 
Damage Program has completed restoration plans for the Clark Fork, and initiated weed control 
and salvage of wetland and riparian vegetation for replanting in restored areas.  The program will 
begin seeding disturbed areas and soil stockpiles this summer to initiate restoration, control 
weeds and prevent dust from blowing from the site on windy days.  The Milltown Site 
Redevelopment Working Group has completed plans for development of the area as a Sate Park 
following cleanup and restoration.  Funding is being sought through Montana Senator Max 
Baucus, who delivered the first $2.5 million appropriation for the project a few years ago.  A new 
tax exempt organization known as the Friends of Confluence State Park will be created to head 
up the fundraising efforts.  The State of Montana is considering acquisition of the Northwestern 
Corporation lands in the reservoir area, and conversion of the lands into a State Park.  Funds for 
the land acquisition have been requested through the Upper Clark Fork Restoration Program, and 
may be approved by Governor Schweitzer later this year. Additional lands have been donated by 
Plum Creek Timber and the Jacobs Family for the construction of the bluff overlook area, which is 
scheduled to begin later this year. The Carpenter’s Union has agreed to serve as an intermediary 
landowner, until the State assumes public ownership of these lands in the future. 
 
It is an exciting time for the Milltown project. Many big changes have occurred in the first six 
months of 2008.  The project is proceeding well, on schedule and without injury.  Missoula based 
Envirocon, contractor to Arco, is doing a good job with the cleanup, and the EPA and Montana 
DEQ are capably overseeing this work.  The State is initiating am ambitious program to restore 
natural resources in the area following dam removal, and working with the County and local 
citizens to plan for future use of the area as park and open space, with pedestrian trails and 
public access to the restored rivers.  The project is a testament to what people can accomplish 
when they set high goals and work together to achieve them. 
 


